
 

 

EVER DECREASING CIRCLES 

A REVIEW OF THE DIFFERENT LONDON CIRCLE LINES 
OVER THE YEARS 

by Eric Stuart 
Probably, my first introduction to the London Circle lines was when my Grandfather referred to a journey 
on the óInner Circleô.  To people of his generation, that would be normal, as there were more than one.  
But, being born after the Inner Circle became the only one, it was many years before I found out more. 

As has been mentioned in previous articles, railway services that joined parts of London orbitally were 
fairly common in the mid- to late-1800s, as the different railway companies sought to build up their 
businesses.  J. Graeme Bruce wrote back in the 1970s, when the (Inner) Circle was unique, that ñthe 
traces of these [the other Circles] é.. have now been lostò.  True at the time, that has now changed, 
but the earlier era is of interest.  

One point to be made is that London Transport uses the nomenclature óOuter Railô for trains working 
clockwise around a circular line and óInner Railô for those going the opposite way, using these terms for 
the Inner Circle and, later, the Hainault or Fairlop Loop.  (Tell it not in Gath, but even the Traffic Circular 
got it wrong at least once!).  Mind you, Metropolitan Line staff 25 years ago were to be heard using óUpô 
for the Outer Rail and óDownô for the Inner ï although I donôt know how far back such usage stems 
(Met. Railway days?).1 

OUTER CIRCLE 

Recent articles in Underground News have mentioned orbital rail services around the capital.  One not 
mentioned hitherto, ran for only two years from St. Pancras to Earlôs Court, via Cricklewood and Acton, 
ceasing in 1880. 

Longer lasting was what became known as the Outer Circle, which started as a service from Broad 
Street to Victoria main line station, via Willesden Junction, Kensington Addison Road and the West 
London Extension Railway.  However, from 1872, the trains were diverted south of Addison Road to 
Earlôs Court and then to Mansion House, which, at the time, was the Metropolitan District Railwayôs 
(óthe Districtôsô) eastern terminus.  The trains served Victoria on the way, of course, but at a lower level.  
This service was made possible by the District opening a connection from Addison Road to Earls Court 
on 1 February 1872. 

These trains were made up of North London Railway (NLR) coaches and originally hauled by NLR 
locomotives throughout.  To avoid steam operation, the District arranged for electric haulage on their 
line east of Earls Court from 4 December 1905.  This was facilitated by the provision of box-like electric 
locomotives (see Opposite, Top).  They looked like short versions of contemporary District electric 
multiple-unit (EMU) passenger vehicles, but with fewer side windows.  These locos normally worked in 
pairs.  However, this way of working was short-lived, as the Outer Circle was withdrawn on the District 
east of Earls Court from 1 January 1909, so the trains were again entirely steam worked2.  However, 
from 1 May 1914, the London and North Western Railway, with which the NLR had amalgamated, 
began to operate the service with EMUs.  This was the first section of the LNWR electrified network to 
open.  It used the same 3rd and 4th rail DC electrification system as the Underground.  At the same 
time, the service was further cut back and no longer operated between Broad Street and Willesden 
Junction, although connections to and from Broad Street and other stations on the ex-LNWR system 
were available at Willesden Junction.  Such a truncated service could hardly be called a Circle at all!  
For a very short while, as the LNWRôs own EMUs were unavailable, the District used their own electric 
                                                           
1  The terms óUpô (to London) and óDownô (to the country) were used on the Metropolitan, Metropolitan District, Central 

London Railway (at least between Wood Lane and Ealing Broadway) and City & South London.  It is thought that the 
C&SLR adopted north- and southbound when it was joined with the Hampstead in 1924.  The District Railway adopted 
east- and westbound from 6 January 1929 ñé except for foreign companiesô linesò, the Central London from September 
1942 and finally the Met & GC Joint from 10 September 1951.  Editorôs Note:  The terms óUpô and óDownô were unofficially 
alive and well in the 1970s and was used by many Metropolitan Line signalmen, especially on the former óJointô line.  It 
wasnôt unknown, however, for the Wembley Park signalman to refer to the óUpô [and óDown] Bakerlooô but that was taking 
it a bit too far! 

2  Subsequently, three of the electric locos were scrapped and some used for a while with one at each end of four trailer 
coaches on ónormalô District trains.  A number later found employment on the Ealing Broadway ï Southend through 
trains between Ealing and Barking from 1 June 1910 until withdrawal of that service on 30 September 1939. 
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trains.  The Willesden ï Earlôs Court service continued until it ended with effect from 3 October 1940, 
as a result of air-raid damage on the West London Line.  As with other ex-NLR/LNWR services, air-
raid damage was the cause of withdrawal, as it was presumably thought that replacement was not a 
priority in war-time, and neither were they restored after the war. 

 

However, as related in the article on the new, orbital London Overground services, matters have almost 
come full circle (excuse pun!).  The Outer Circle is almost resurrected in its earliest form, running from 
Stratford to Clapham Junction instead of Victoria. 

 

 

 



January 2017 

 

105 

Previous Page:  (Lower) Because the new Siemens EMUs were not ready in time for the Willesden 
Junction ï Earlôs Court service from 1 May 1914, three three-car trains were loaned to the LNWR from 
the MDR and were based at Triangle Sidings.  The new trains entered service from 22 November 1914 
and one is seen in LMS days at Addison Road heading to Earlôs Court.  Until the LNWRôs own depots 
became available, these were at first maintained at Lillie Bridge (LER) Depot. 

Below:  Although the Siemens Stock was provided for the Willesden ï Earlôs Court route, Oerlikon 
trains also worked the service.  This appears to be a six-car formation (train formations were lengthened 
during exhibitions at Olympia), also heading for Earlôs Court.  It will be noted that the Oerlikon trains 
had only one opening sliding door per side on motor coaches, at the trailing end. 

 

MIDDLE CIRCLE 

The story of the Middle Circle is bound up with that of the Hammersmith & City Line (H&C).  The 
Hammersmith & City Railway, as it was then, was built as a feeder to the Metropolitan Railway.  It 
became jointly owned by the Great Western (GWR) and Metropolitan. 

The line was built from the GWR main line at Westbourne Park, curving southward to Hammersmith, 
with a branch at Latimer Road down to the West London Railway (WLR) that passed underneath the 
H&C there.  The GWR worked trains from Moorgate, through Baker Street and Paddington (Bishopôs 
Road ï later Suburban), then over the link to the WLR to Addison Road, next over the new link to Earlôs 
Court and thence through to Mansion House.  This started on 1 August 1872.  After 30 June 1900 the 
service did not run between Earlôs Court and Mansion House.  It was also not quite a complete circle, 
but was considered such.     

 

From 1 February 1905, the service 
was taken over by the Met. and 
revised to operate between Aldgate 
and Addison Road, thus even less 
qualifying as a circle!  A year later 
(3 December 1906), the line began 
to be worked by electric trains, but 
was then further amended to be an 
Edgware Road ï Addison Road 
shuttle from 31 October 1910.  A 
three-car set of 1906 H&C óSaloonô 
Stock is seen arriving at Addison 
Road, the letter óKô denoting it is 
working the Kensington service. 
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The Hammersmith & City Line was 
worked by 6-car electric trains built in 
1906, with the imposing title ñGREAT 
WESTERN AND METROPOLITAN 
RAILWAYSò over the windows on 
each car on one side and 
ñMETROPOLITAN AND GREAT 
WESTERN RAILWAYSò on the other 
side (the ñRailwaysò appendage was 
later dropped), as seen at Farringdon 
(Left) and in Neasden Depot (Below).  
The branch to Addison Road was 
worked by 3-car trains formed of half 
of a normal H&C train.  Two such sets 
were required for the Edgware Road ï 

Addison Road shuttle service. 

 

Two single-car double-ended electric motor coaches (formed from accident-damaged vehicles in 1910) 
had been used on the Uxbridge branch in its early days.  When traffic began to build up on the Uxbridge 
line, they were transferred to work the Addison Road trains from 12 May 1918.  When electrification 
was extended beyond Harrow to Rickmansworth, they were moved to a new life working the 
Rickmansworth ï Watford via North Curve service and, after that ceased, worked the Wembley Park ï 
Stanmore shuttles until they were scrapped, one in 1938, the other in 1942.  The latter had been stored 
after the Bakerloo Line had opened to Stanmore in November 1939. 

Following bomb damage, the connection between the H&C and WLR ceased to be usable and so the 
remains of the Middle Circle ceased to operate with effect from 21 October 1940.  The withdrawal of 
the remnants of the Outer and Middle Circles left Addison Road as a virtual ghost station, looking like 
those later seen in some parts of Berlin after the Wall was erected3.   

THE KENSINGTON/OLYMPIA S HUTTLES 

The link between Addison Road and Earlôs Court was used by the District for a shuttle service from 
High Street Kensington from its opening and later by the Outer and Middle Circles.  But, after the Circles 
ceased to use it, it was not used by passenger trains until London Transport Railways commenced a 
service after the Second World War, starting in December 1946.  This ran at times of exhibitions4 at 
the Olympia venue, which adjoined the station.  Addison Road station was renamed appropriately.  For 

                                                           
3  See recent articles on the West London Line and its train services in Underground News. 
4  The shuttle service has also run at times of engineering work on BR main lines, such as the rebuildings/remodellings at 

Paddington and Euston in the 1960s.  I believe they also ran in connection with the cheap-fare ñStarlight Specialsò to 
and from Scotland in the 1960s. 


